

#### **Strategic Planning Committee**

Minutes of a meeting of the Strategic Planning Committee held at The Forum, Moat Lane, Towcester, NN12 6AD on Monday 16 August 2021 at 2.00 pm.

Present	Councillor Phil Bignell (Chair) Councillor David James (Vice-Chair)
	Councillor Jonathan Harris
	Councillor Stephen Hibbert
	Councillor Charles Manners
Apologies	Councillor Terrie Eales
for	Councillor Penelope Flavell
Absence:	Councillor Andre Gonzalez De Savage
	Councillor Rosie Herring
Officers	Paul Seckington, Interim Head of Development Management,
	Enforcement and Land Charges
	Daniel Callis, Principal Planning Officer for WNS/2021/0064/MAF
	Jamie Parsons, Planning Solicitor
	Diana Davies, Democratic Services Officer

#### 1. **Declarations of Interest**

There were no declarations of interest.

# 2. Chairman's Announcements

There were not Chairman's Announcements.

#### 3. Land Adjacent to M1 and Waltham Wood Courteenhall Road, Quinton, Northamptonshire

The Committee considered application WNS/2021/0064/MAF, for the erection of polytunnels on existing agricultural land. The polytunnels would cover an area of 10.36Ha/103,607sqm. There would also be 6,519sqm of hardstanding, plus a SuDs attenuation basin. Access is taken from the existing private road, which connects to Courteenhall Road and leads to the A508 Northampton Road. Internally, access will be shared with the adjacent agricultural uses. The private road will be extended from the existing broiler unit to the site and will include two passing bays to enable HGVs and staff vehicles to pass. Parking is provided for 25 cars, including 4 DDA spaces and 3 Electric Vehicle spaces with charging points. Cycle Storage is provided for up to 6 cycles. The hardstanding includes space for 2 HGVs to wait. The loading spaces are internal to the polytunnels and turning space is provided within the yard area. The polytunnels will be constructed of a galvanised steel frame covered in polythene

sheeting. The proposed structures have an eaves height of 5m and an overall ridge height of 7m.

Stacey Rawlings, agent for the applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the application. It was proposed by Councillor David James and seconded by Councillor Stephen Hibbert that the application should be approved subject to the conditions and reasons.

In reaching its decision, the Committee considered the officer's report and presentation, the address of the public speaker, and the written update.

# Resolved

- that authority be delegated to the Assistant Director Growth, Climate and Regeneration to grant permission for application WNS/2021/0064/MAF subject to
  - 1) The receipt of 'no objection' from the Local Highway Authority, and
  - 2) subject to the condition set out in the report (and any amendments to those conditions or additional conditions as deemed necessary).

# **CONDITIONS**

#### Time limit

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

# **Approved plans**

- 2. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved plans and details unless a non-material or minor material amendment is approved by the Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). The approved plans and details are:
  - Drawing No. 00 (site location plan)
  - Drawing No. 07 (site layout plan)
  - Drawing No. 03 (elevations)
  - Drawing No. 05 (hardstanding layout)
  - Drawing No. 08 (equestrian and bridleway access detail)
  - Drawing No. 50597\_5501\_103 rev P01 (swept path analysis of proposed access road)

Reason: To clarify the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

# Maximum height

3. No structure erected on the site shall exceed 7.5m in height about the existing ground levels, as determined by external measurement.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

# Maximum floor area

4. The floor area of the proposed polytunnels shall not exceed 103,607m2 as determined by external measurement.

Reason: In order to avoid overdevelopment, to achieve a satisfactory form development and to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

# **Retention of hedges**

5. The existing hedges along the boundaries of the site (and the 2 hedges bisecting the site) shall be retained at a minimum height of not less than three metres and any trees or plants which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within 5 years from the completion of the development shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and the same species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To provide an effective and attractive screen for the development in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan

# Time limit of ecological surveys

6. If the development hereby approved does not commence within 2 years of the date of this consent revised Great Crested Newt and Breeding Bird surveys shall be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development to establish changes in the presence, abundance and impact on affected species. The survey results, together with any necessary changes to the mitigation plan or method statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not cause harm to any protected species or their habitats in accordance with Policy BN2 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme.

CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BEFORE ANY DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

# Surface water drainage

7. No development shall take place until a detailed design of surface water drainage scheme for the site based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment

of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development should be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the first use of the development. These shall include:

- a) Details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, dimensions and so on) of all elements of the proposed drainage system, to include pipes, inspection chambers, outfalls/inlets and attenuation basins. Details of the drainage system are to be accompanied by full and appropriately crossreferenced supporting calculations.
- b) Cross sections of all control chambers (including site specific levels mAOD) and manufacturers' hydraulic curves for all hydrobrakes and any other flow control devices.
- c) Cross sections of all attenuation basins (showing their profile relative to the existing ground levels).
- d) Infiltration test results to BRE365 Reason : To ensure that the development/site is served by sustainable arrangements for the disposal of surface water, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan, Policy BN7 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework.

# Archaeology

8. No development shall take place until the applicant (or their agents or successors in title) has submitted to and had approved in writing by the local planning authority a programme of archaeological work consisting of a written scheme of investigation and a timetable for that work. The development shall thereafter proceed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation and timetable.

Reason: To secure the provision of archaeological investigation and the subsequent recording of the remains, to comply with Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Section 16). This information is required prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme.

# Tree protection

- No development shall take place until the existing tree(s) and hedges to be retained around the site boundaries, and across the site, have been protected in the following manner unless otherwise previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority;
  - a) Protective barriers shall be erected around the tree(s) to a distance not less than a radius of 12 times the trunk diameter when measured at 1.5m above natural ground level (on the highest side) for single stemmed trees and for multi-stemmed trees 10 times the trunk diameter just above the root flare.
  - b) The barriers shall comply with the specification set out in British Standard BS5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Construction – Recommendations' that is steel mesh panels at least 2.3m tall securely fixed to a scaffold pole framework with the uprights driven into the ground a minimum of 0.6m depth and braced with additional scaffold poles between the barrier and the tree[s] at a minimum spacing of 3m.

- c) The barriers shall be erected before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of development [and / or demolition] and shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus material has been removed from the site.
- d) Nothing shall be stored or placed within the areas protected by the barriers erected in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavations be made, without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the continued health of retained trees/hedges and to ensure that they are not adversely affected by the construction works, in the interests of the visual amenity of the area, to ensure the integration of the development into the existing landscape and to comply with Policies SS2 and NE5 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme.

# **Construction method statement**

- 10. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall provide for at a minimum:
  - a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
  - b) The routeing of HGVs to and from the site;
  - c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
  - d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
  - e) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
  - f) Wheel washing facilities including type of operation (automated, water recycling etc) and road sweeping;
  - g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
  - h) A scheme for recycling/ disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;
  - i) Delivery, demolition and construction working hours; The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period for the development.

Reason: To ensure the environment is protected during construction in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme.

CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION WORKS TAKE PLACE

# Landscaping scheme

11. A scheme for landscaping the site shall be provided to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which shall include:-

- (a) details of the proposed tree and shrub planting including their species, number, sizes and positions, together with grass seeded/turfed areas and written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment i.e. depth of topsoil, mulch etc),
- (b) details of the existing trees and hedgerows to be retained as well as those to be felled, including existing and proposed soil levels at the base of each tree/hedgerow and the minimum distance between the base of the tree and the nearest edge of any excavation, Such details shall be provided prior to the erection of the polytunnels or such alternative time frame as agreed in writing by the developer and the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented by the end of the first planting season following occupation of the development.

Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory landscape scheme is provided in the interest of well planned development and visual amenity and to accord with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

# Lighting

12. Details of both the internal and external lighting, including the design, position, orientation and any screening of the lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of those works. The lighting shall be installed and operated in accordance with the approved scheme at all times thereafter.

Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area and in the interests of ecology in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government advice in The National Planning Policy Framework.

# **EV charging**

13. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until it has been provided with electric charging equipment of AC Level 2 (or equipment providing for no lesser standard of efficiency) to charge at least 3 vehicles simultaneously.

Reason: To comply with Policy S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Policy INF4 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2, and to maximise opportunities for sustainable transport modes in accordance with paragraph 110(e) of the National Planning Policy Framework.

CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE OCCUPATION

# Surface water drainage maintenance

14. No development shall be brought into use until a detailed scheme for the maintenance and upkeep of every element of the surface water drainage system proposed on the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the maintenance plan shall be carried out in full thereafter. This scheme shall include details of any drainage elements that will require replacement within the lifetime of the proposed development.

Reason: To ensure that the development/site is served by sustainable arrangements for the disposal of surface water, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan, Policy BN7 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework.

#### Surface water drainage verification

- 15. No Occupation shall take place until a Verification Report for the installed surface water drainage system for the site based on the Drainage Statement ref 505DS dated 19th February 2021 prepared by Stantec, has been submitted in writing by a suitably qualified independent drainage engineer and approved by the Local Planning Authority The details shall include:
  - a) Any departure from the agreed design is keeping with the approved principles
  - b) Any As-Built Drawings and accompanying photos
  - c) Results of any Performance testing undertaken as a part of the application process (if required / necessary)
  - d) Copies of any Statutory Approvals, such as Land Drainage Consent for Discharges etc.
  - e) CCTV confirmation that the system is free from defects, damage and foreign objects.

Reason: To ensure that the development/site is served by sustainable arrangements for the disposal of surface water, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan, Policy BN7 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework.

#### Landscape maintenance

16. A schedule of landscape maintenance for a minimum period of 25 years shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the development. The schedule shall include details of the arrangements for its implementation. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved schedule unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the agreed landscaping scheme is maintained over a reasonable period that will permit its establishment in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

# Parking and turning

17. The proposed access and parking, turning, loading and unloading facilities shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans before first occupation of the development hereby permitted. The access, parking, turning, loading and unloading facilities shall thereafter be retained for use in connection with the development for those purposes only. Reason: In the interests of highway safety, to ensure the provision of adequate off-street car parking and turning/loading/unloading to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance in Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

# Cycle parking

18. Prior to the first use or occupation of the development hereby permitted, covered cycle parking facilities shall be provided on the site in accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The covered cycle parking facilities so provided shall thereafter be permanently retained and maintained for the parking of cycles in connection with the development.

Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable transport modes in accordance with Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework.

CONDITIONS TO BE COMPLIED WITH AT ALL TIMES

# Archaeology reporting

19. Within 6 months of the completion of the archaeological work in accordance with the written scheme of investigation approved pursuant to condition 8 above the applicant (or their agents or successors in title) shall submit to the local planning authority for its written approval an archaeological report comprising a post-excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of site archive and completion of an archive report together with details of the store at which this is to be deposited. Reason: To secure the provision of archaeological investigation and the subsequent recording of the remains, to comply with Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Section 16).

# **Construction hours**

20. No construction work including site clearance and delivery of materials shall be carried out except between the hours of 07.30 to 18.00 Monday to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 on Saturdays and at no times on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays.

Reason: In order to protect the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties from noise outside normal working hours and to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan.

#### Landscaping maintenance

21. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the polytunnels, or before the end of the planting season immediately following first occupation, and shall be maintained for a period of 5 years from the completion of the development. Any trees and/or shrubs which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent for any variation.

Reason : To ensure that the agreed landscaping scheme is maintained over a reasonable period that will permit its establishment in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

#### **Restricted use**

22. The premises shall be used only for the purpose of growing food produce and for no other purpose whatsoever.

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and protect the amenities of nearby residents in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan.

#### **Removal of polytunnels**

23. If at any time the polytunnels fall into disuse and are unused for their approved purpose for a period of 6 months or more, all equipment (including the polytunnels, frames, their internal fittings and fixtures, utilities and services and the area hardstanding) hereby permitted shall be removed and the land restored to its former agricultural use.

Reason: This is a time limited permission only given the nature and lifespan of the development proposed and to ensure the long term protection of the character and appearance of the countryside in accordance with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan.

# Additional Conditions

 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations, mitigation and enhancements set out in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) by Cambridge Ecology dated 23rd February 2021 (Ref: P0868-R-001d), Breeding Bird Survey (Ref: P0868-M-002b) by Cambridge Ecology dated 10th June 2021 and Great Crested Newt Mitigation Strategy (Doc. Ref: 202102008) by Herpetologic Ltd July 2021, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect habitats and/or species of importance to nature conservation from significant harm in accordance with the Government's aim to achieve sustainable development as set out in Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. Where an offence under Regulation 41 of the Habitat and Species Regulations 2017 is likely to occur in respect of the development hereby approved, no works of site clearance, demolition or construction shall take place which are likely to impact on bats/newts until a licence to affect such species has been granted in accordance with the aforementioned Regulations and a copy thereof has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not cause harm to any protected species or their habitats in accordance with Policy BN2 of the West

Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Biodiversity Management Plan (BMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the BMP shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

The content of the BMP shall include the following:

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.

- c) Aims and objectives of management.
- d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
- e) Prescriptions for management actions.
- f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
- g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.
- h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
- 4. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the BMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation from any loss or damage in accordance with Policy BN2 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government guidance contained within Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

5. All species used in the planting proposals shall be native species of UK provenance.

Reason: To conserve and enhance biodiversity and prevent the spread of nonnative species in accordance with Policy BN2 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Government guidance contained within Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

# 4. Urgent Business

There were no items of Urgent Business.

The meeting closed at 2.37 pm

Chair:

Date: